STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 24-245

SCA EFiled: Jul 22 2024
04:58PM EDT
Transaction ID 73747878

Jamil Adrian Cabral,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

vs.)

State of West Virginia,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

(from the Circuit Court of Wood County, Case Nos.: 23-F-325)

APPELLATE BRIEF

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The circuit court erred in allowing evidence of the Fentanyl contained within a sealed pack to be introduced as evidence**
- II. The court erred in allowing the search of the vehicle**
- III. The Conspiracy of Possession of a Controlled Substance, Second Offense, conviction is against the weight of the evidence**
- IV. The court erred in allowing evidence of Petitioner's prior conviction in Washington County after ruling that evidence could not be admitted at trial**
- V. The Circuit Court erred in denying Motion for Judgment of Acquittal at trial, Motion for New Trial, and Post Trial Motion for Judgement of Acquittal**
- VI. It was plain error for Officer Joshua Snyder to testify that he wanted to talk to either Petitioner or the Codefendant about the delivery of marijuana**
- VII. The circuit court erred in sentencing the Petitioner to a 16-year determined sentence was excessive under the facts of the case and a motion for probation or alternative sentence should have been granted**
- VIII. The conviction and sentence of sixteen years for second offense Conspiracy is excessive and should be set aside**
- IX. Petitioner believes was not tried before a jury of his peers**
- X. The court erred in denying a motion for mistrial after the jury pool was tainted by the comments of a prospective juror**
- XI. Codefendant Opitz was not allowed to testify that her husband may have planted drugs in the car**
- XII. Petitioner's right to a fair trial was violated due to cumulative effect of numerous errors committed by the trial court**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jamil Cabral (hereinafter "Petitioner") was tried before the Honorable Robert A. Waters, Judge, in Wood County, West Virginia, on December 12 and 13, 2023 (order entered December 26, 2023) (A.R. pp. 33-36). The jury returned a verdict of Not Guilty on the offense of

Possession of Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, Second offense (Fentanyl), and returned guilty verdicts for Conspiracy to Commit Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, Second Offense, and Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) (A.R. pp. 94-97). The co-defendant took a plea to the general Conspiracy statute (1-5 years in prison) (A.R. pp. 430-431, 30-32, 179-219).

The case arose from a traffic stop on or about January 27, 2023, from a traffic stop of a gray/silver Nissan Rogue driven by Lydia Opitz, (hereinafter "Codefendant Opitz) (A.R. pp. 127-131). The stop due to expired registration and having a dark, tinted license plate cover (A.R. pp. 127-131).

Sargent Joshua Snyder and Officer William Reifsteck testified to detecting the odor of marijuana (A.R. pp. 135, 153- 154). Petitioner was seated in the front passenger seat at the time of the stop. Marijuana was found on Petitioner (A.R. pp. 154) after a pat down search and after asking Petitioner what was in his pocket.

A search was then conducted of the vehicle. The court allowed the search and its contents to be introduced at trial, after a pretrial hearing (A.R. pp. 171-172). The only fentanyl located at the scene was in a sealed packet between the driver's seat and the front console in a sealed package with Rick and Morty on the packet, as well as the word "cannabis" (A.R. pp. 137-138, 157, 416). The packet was later opened and found to have 3 aluminum foil folds of white powder. The powder was tested and found to contain fentanyl (A.R. pp. 473-477). Neither party claimed the packet, or the fentanyl contained in the packet. (A.R. pp. 446, 493-494).

Motion for Post-Verdict Judgement of Acquittal and a Motion for New Trial were filed (A.R. pp. 48-52). The circuit court denied both motions at the sentencing hearing for Petitioner (A.R. pp. 556-571, 53-56).

On August 17, 2023, Petitioner was sentenced to sixteen (16) years in the custody of the West Virginia Division of Corrections for Conspiracy to Commit Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver (Fentanyl), Second Offense, and six months for Possession of a Controlled Substance (marijuana). (A.R. pp. 53-56, 579).

From the convictions and sentences, Petitioner appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

That the court erred in allowing evidence of the Fentanyl contained within a sealed pack to be introduced. **Mr.** Cabral was in neither possession nor constructive possession of the packet; that Mr. Cabral was in neither possession nor constructive possession of the packet is reflected in the jury's verdict of not guilty to Count 1, Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to elver, Second Offense (fentanyl).

The court erred in allowing the search of the vehicle. The search was based on the odor of marijuana in the vehicle and a baggie of substance believed to be marijuana on the person of the Petitioner after he had already stepped out of the vehicle as requested by Patrolman William Reifsteck.

The Conspiracy conviction is against the weight of the evidence as there was not sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Jamil Cabral committed the offense of Conspiracy to Commit Possession of a Controlled Substance with the Intent to Deliver (Fentanyl), Second Offense, "Conspiracy" means an agreement to commit to felony and one person has to commit an over act in furtherance of the felony. In this case, the conspiracy specifically refers to the Possession of Fentanyl with the intent to Deliver which was referred to in County 1 of the Indictment. In this case, the jury acquitted Mr. Cabral of the charge of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, Second Offense, Fentanyl. While

the co-defendant Lyndia Opitz entered a plea of guilty to Conspiracy and testified at Mr. Cabral's trial, she did not admit to possessing fentanyl, to seeing Mr. Cabral with fentanyl, to obtaining fentanyl from Mr. Cabral, to being aware of Mr. Cabral dealing fentanyl to herself or to any other person, or to acquiring fentanyl for any purpose including delivery or distribution. Likewise, Mr. Cabral did not admit to possessing fentanyl, to knowing fentanyl was in the vehicle to any conspiracy to acquire or deliver fentanyl or any drug for the purpose of delivery or distribution.

The court erred in ruling that the Defendant opened the door to be asked about his prior conviction for Cocaine Trafficking in Washington County, Ohio. The issue of the Defendant having a prior drug felony in Washington County, Ohio was stipulated. Allowing the evidence to be presented and argued in closing was unfairly prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The court erred in Denying Motion for Judgment of Acquittal at trial, Motion for New Trial, and Post Trial Motion for Judgement of Acquittal. The verdict in this case suggests a compromise verdict as Mr. Cabral was acquitted of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, which specifically references the fentanyl located next to the driver's seat in a sealed packet. As testified to at the trial by the investigating officer, co-defendant Lyndia Opitz, and Mr. Cabral, Lyndia Opitz was driving the vehicle. That said verdict is contrary to the evidence presented and is without the proper evidence to support it. The conviction is against the principle of the right to a fair trial.

Also, it was plain error for Officer Joshua Snyder to testify that he wanted to talk to either Mr. Cabral, or Ms. Opitz about the delivery of Marijuana. The evidence was a back doorway of the state intentionally prejudicing Mr. Cabral before the Jury. The 16-year determined sentence was excessive under the facts of the case and a motion for probation or alternative sentence

should have been granted. The conviction and sentence for second offense Conspiracy is excessive and should be set aside. Petitioner was prevented from presenting a full defense when the codefendant was not allowed to testify that her ex-husband could have put the fentanyl in the vehicle. Further, Petitioner believes was not tried before a jury of his peers, as the 29-member jury pool contained no minorities, and that the jury pool was tainted by the comments of a prospective juror about the repeated arrests of the same people.

Due to these errors individually and collectively, Petitioner's convictions should be given a judgment of acquittal in this matter, or he should be granted a new trial.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because this case involves a dispute in the application of settled law, abuse of discretion, and is of fundamental public importance, as the Court may determine, this case is appropriate for Rule 19 or Rule 20 argument and disposition.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The abuse of discretion standard has been defined in longstanding case law in West Virginia:

'In general, an abuse of discretion occurs when a material factor deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no improper factors are assessed but the circuit court makes a serious mistake in weighing them.' Id. at 553, 514 S.E.2d at 403 (quoting Gentry v. Mangum, 195 W.Va. 512, 520 n. 6, 466 S.E.2d 171, 179 n. 6 (1995)).

Shafer v. Kings Tire Serv., Inc., 215 W. Va. 169, 177, (2004).

Additionally,

[w]here improper evidence of a nonconstitutional nature is introduced by the State in a criminal trial, the test to determine if the error is harmless is: (1) the inadmissible evidence must be removed from the State's case and a determination made as to whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial minds of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the remaining evidence is found to be insufficient, the error is not harmless; (3) if the remaining

evidence is sufficient to support the conviction, an analysis must then be made to determine whether the error had any prejudicial effect on the jury.

State v. Maynard, 183 W. Va. 1, 2, (1990).

Mr. Cabral was in neither possession nor constructive possession of the packet; that Mr. Cabral was in neither possession nor constructive possession of the packet is reflected in the jury's verdict of not guilty to County 1, Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to elver, Second Offense (fentanyl).

ARGUMENTS

I. The circuit court erred in allowing evidence of the Fentanyl contained within a sealed pack to be introduced as evidence

Mr. Cabral was in neither possession nor constructive possession of the packet; that Mr. Cabral was in neither possession nor constructive possession of the packet is reflected in the jury's verdict of not guilty to Count 1, Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, Second Offense (fentanyl). (A.R. p. 95).

"In West Virginia mere physical presence on a premises in which a controlled substance is found does not give rise to a presumption of possession of a controlled substance but is evidence to be considered along with other evidence demonstrating conscious dominion over the controlled substance." State v. Chapman, *Syl. Pt. 2*, 363 S.E.2d 755, 178 W.Va. 678 (*quoting Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Dudick*, 158 W.Va., 629, 213 S.E.2d 458 (1975)).

In the instant case, the court erred in allowing the evidence of fentanyl to be introduced to the jury because there was no other evidence tying the evidence to Petitioner. This was born out at trial when Codefendant Opitz testified that she did not know anything about the Rick and Morty baggie containing the fentanyl until she was being processed after the stop (A.R. p. 446). There was no evidence or proffer of evidence that would tie the fentanyl to Petitioner during the

suppression hearing. This decision was clearly not harmless, as the jury returned a verdict of guilty to Conspiracy to Commit Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, Second Offense, while at the same time acquitting Petitioner for Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver. Absent this prejudicial evidence, the jury could not have convicted Petitioner for the Conspiracy Charge upon the testimony of Codefendant Opitz, who denied the existence of an actual conspiracy or agreement to commit any illegal act (other than smoking marijuana with Petitioner. There was no other evidence of any overt act, other than Fentanyl, which both Petitioner and the codefendant denied knowing was present.

II. The court erred in allowing the search of the vehicle.

The search was based on the odor of marijuana in the vehicle and a baggie of substance believed to be marijuana on the person of the Petitioner after he had already stepped out of the vehicle as requested by Patrolman William Reifsteck. (A.R. pp. 135, 153, 154). There is no other evidence of any wrongdoing. Matters involving conclusions of law, including the admissibility of evidence, are reviewed under a *de novo* standard State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). Under this standard, the decision to allow the search of the vehicle, including the Rick and Morty pack containing fentanyl, was not properly made, and should be reversed.

III. The Conspiracy of Possession of a Controlled Substance, Second Offense, conviction is against the weight of the evidence

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not

an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are inconsistent, they are expressly overruled.

Syllabus Point 3 State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995).

Controlled Substance with the Intent to Deliver (Fentanyl), Second Offense, Conspiracy" means an agreement to commit to felony and one person must commit an over act in furtherance of the felony. In this case, the conspiracy specifically refers to the Possession of Fentanyl with the intent to Deliver which was referred to in County 1 of the Indictment (A.R. pp. 15-16). In this case, the jury acquitted Mr. Cabral of the charge of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, Second Offense, Fentanyl (A.R. p. 94). While the co-defendant Lyndia Opitz entered a plea of guilty to Conspiracy and testified at Mr. Cabral's trial, she did not admit to possessing fentanyl (A.R. p. 446), to seeing Mr. Cabral with fentanyl (A.R. p. 433), to obtaining fentanyl from Mr. Cabral (A.R. pp. 433), to being aware of Mr. Cabral dealing fentanyl to herself or to any other person (A.R. pp. 433-446), or to acquiring fentanyl for delivery or distribution (A.R. p. 446). Codefendant Opitz admitted to abusing drugs, including Fentanyl, but denied using Fentanyl with or around Petitioner (A.R. pp. 433). She also denied knowing that Fentanyl was in the vehicle or knowing how the Fentanyl in the Rick and Morty pack came to be in the vehicle (A.R. pp. 446).

Likewise, Mr. Cabral denied possessing fentanyl (A.R. pp. 490-498), to knowing fentanyl was in the vehicle (A.R. pp. 490-494), to any conspiracy to acquire or deliver fentanyl or any drug for the purpose of delivery or distribution (A.R. p. 491).

The alleged baggie of marijuana (approximately 5 grams) was never tested. Officer Reifsteck testified that he believed the substance was marijuana A.R. p. 413).

IV. The court erred in allowing evidence of Petitioner's prior conviction in Washington County after ruling that evidence could not be admitted at trial

The issue of the Defendant having a prior drug felony in Washington County, Ohio was stipulated to by Petitioner. The court had properly ruled that conviction could not be presented to the jury (A.R. p. 173-174). However, at trial the court ruled that the conviction could be presented to the jury after Petitioner testified that his relationship with Codefendant Opitz ended due to "the stress and the mental madness of going through a case that I've never been through before." (A.R. p. 492). The court then allowed the State to question Petitioner about his prior conviction in Washington County, Ohio (A.R. p. 497-502). Allowing the evidence to be presented and argued in closing was unfairly prejudicial to the Petitioner, as he was then convicted, despite the lack of direct testimony against Petitioner by Codefendant Opitz.

V. The Circuit Court erred in denying Motion for Judgment of Acquittal at trial, Motion for New Trial, and Post Trial Motion for Judgement of Acquittal.

The verdict in this case suggests a compromise verdict. As discussed above, there is insufficient evidence of a conspiracy and Mr. Cabral was acquitted of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver, which specifically references the fentanyl located next to the driver's seat in a sealed packet (A.R. p. 446). As testified to at the trial by the investigating officer, co-defendant Lyndia Opitz, and Mr. Cabral, Lyndia Opitz was driving the vehicle (A.R. p. 432, 492). That said verdict is contrary to the evidence presented and is without the proper evidence to support it. The conviction is against the principle of the right to a fair trial when the evidence was so lacking.

VI. It was plain error for Officer Joshua Snyder to testify that he wanted to talk to either Petitioner or the codefendant about the delivery of marijuana

To trigger application of the 'plain error' doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public

reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syllabus point 7, State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995).

The evidence was a backdoor way of the state intentionally prejudicing Mr. Cabral before the Jury. Officer Joshua Snyder speculated that Ms. Opitz or the Petitioner may have just been involved in the distribution of marijuana (A.R. p. 455). As can be seen in the trial transcript, Sargent Snyder was recalled to the stand, to try bolster the State's case by testifying to this perceived intent, as well as to his "expertise" regarding drug investigations. The court sustained the objections of counsel regarding most the intended testimony upon recall, but the witness has already slipped in the comment about concern for the delivery of marijuana. This was exceedingly prejudicial. By that point in the trial, there was no evidence of any attempt, or even intent, to deliver fentanyl, other than the weak testimony of Codefendant Opitz. As noted above, Codefendant Opitz had only testified that she entered a plea, that it was her vehicle, that Petitioner did not drive that vehicle, that she did not know where the fentanyl came from, and that both she and her husband had a significant drug problem (A.R. pp. 432, 433, 446, 448, 453, 454).

Clearly, this was part of the State's attempt to obtain a conviction based upon mere suspicion or conjecture by Sargent Snyder, not upon actual evidence of guilt.

VII. The circuit court erred in sentencing the Defendant to a 16-year determined sentence was excessive under the facts of the case and a motion for probation or alternative sentence should have been granted.

Sentencing orders imposed by circuit courts are reviewed under the deferential standard of review. 'The Supreme Court of Appeals reviews sentencing orders ... under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands.' Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Lucas, 201 W.Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997)." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. James, 227

W.Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (2011).

`Sentences imposed by the trial court, if within statutory limits and if not based on some [im]permissible factor[.]' Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Goodnight, 169 W.Va. 366, 287 S.E.2d 504 (1982)." Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Slater, 222 W.Va. 499, 665 S.E.2d 674 (2008).

Petitioner was sentenced to serve a determinate sentence of sixteen (16) years in prison and to serve six (6) months for Possession of a Controlled Substance, to be served consecutively (A.R. pp. 53-56, 579).

Based on all these considerations, especially the weak circumstantial case against Petitioner, the circuit court erred in not granting Petitioner probation, home confinement or other alternative sentencing.

Counsel notes the filing of a motion for reconsideration (A.R. pp. 53-60) which was denied (A.R. p. 61).

VIII. The conviction and sentence of sixteen years for second offense Conspiracy is excessive and should be set aside

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