IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 24-245

**SCA EFiled: Sep 04 2024
02:09PM EDT
Transaction ID 74227731**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

JAMIL ADRIAN CABRAL,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Jennifer Polk (WV Bar # 13032)
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: JPolk@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833**

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

[n]ormally, the scope of cross-examination is limited to the subject matter [,] or issues[,], or events to which the witness testified on direct examination.... [This] means the subject matter opened up, such as: (1) the period of time; (2) the relationship between two parties; or (3) an element of the offense.... It is always permissible to inquire into the details of the events testified to on direct. Statements relate to the direct testimony of a witness when they relate generally to the events and activities [to which the witness] testified. 1 Cleckley, Palmer, and Davis, Handbook on Evidence, § 611.02[3][d][iv].

Id. at 413, 738 S.E.2d at 915.

During direct, Petitioner testified that he and Ms. Opitz broke up due to "the stress and mental madness of going through a case that I've never been through before." App. 492. Prior to beginning cross examination, the State asked to meet in chambers to discuss Petitioner's testimony that he was going through a case that he'd never been through before. App. 497-98. The State

argued that because he had been previously convicted, he has been through it before, and the State wanted to introduce that information. App. 498. Petitioner argued that he had only entered a plea in Ohio, and that was different than going through the stress of a trial. App. 498. The State pointed out that Petitioner didn't specify the stress of a trial, and at the time of the breakup he was not in a trial. App. 498. The court ruled that because he didn't just say he was going through this case, instead he added that "I have never been through before" that might mislead the jury and so the State was permitted to question him about it. App. 502. Petitioner attempted to mislead the jury; by saying he was going through a case he had never been through before and the court permitted the State to ask him about it. At the time of the breakup, approximately one month before trial, Petitioner was not going through the stress of a trial, he was going through the stress of criminal case, which is exactly like to cocaine trafficking he had been through in Ohio. Petitioner opened the door as per *Baker*; thus, Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this ground.

V. The court properly denied Petitioner's two motions for judgement of acquittal and motion for new trial.

As an extension of his earlier claim that there was insufficient evidence, Petitioner sets forth this assignment of error to argue that "[t]he verdict in this case suggests a compromise[d] verdict," which supports a finding of insufficient evidence. Pet'r's Br. 9. Although Petitioner cited to *Guthrie* in his third assignment of error, he produces no legal authority for a finding of a "compromise[d] verdict." Pet'r's Br. 9.

It is unsurprising that Petitioner would avoid any case law on this issue, as this Court has held that "[a]ppellate review of a claim of inconsistent verdicts is not generally available." Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Bartlett*, 177 W. Va. 663, 355 S.E.2d 913 (1987). As the U. S. Supreme Court has "reject[ed], as imprudent and unworkable, a rule that would allow criminal defendants to challenge inconsistent verdicts on the grounds that in their case the verdict was not the product of lenity, but

of some error that worked against them.” *U.S. v. Powell*, 469 U.S. 57, 66 (1984). This is because “[s]uch an individualized assessment of the reason for the inconsistency would be based either on pure speculation, or would require inquiries into the jury’s deliberations that courts generally will not undertake. *Id.* Here, Petitioner claims that the verdict must be the result of a “compromise,” but such allegation is based on “pure speculation.” Pet’r’s Br. 9; *Powell*, 469 U.S. at 66.

As the U. S. Supreme Court has held, “a criminal defendant already is afforded protection against jury irrationality or error by the independent review of the sufficiency of the evidence undertaken by the trial and appellate courts,” and such “review should not be confused with the problems cause by inconsistent verdicts.” *Powell*, 469 U.S. at 67. Argument relating to sufficiency of the evidence has already been addressed in relation to the third assignment of error. There is simply no need to consider whether the verdict for count one was inconsistent with the verdict for count two, so long as the evidence is sufficient to sustain the conviction for the latter.

VI. The testimony of Officer Joshua Snyder was not plain error.

Petitioner argues that it was plain error for Sergeant Snyder to testify that Ms. Opitz or the Petitioner may have “just been involved in the distribution of marijuana.” Pet’r’s’ Br. 10. Although he correctly identifies the plain error standard that is applicable here due to his lack of objection at trial, he fails to cite to any legal authority to support his contention that this testimony was impermissible. Moreover, this Court has defined plain error as: “(1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.” Syl. pt. 7, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Petitioner has failed to identify any error, let alone one that is plain. Likewise, he fails to show how any alleged error has affected his substantial rights, nor how the alleged error seriously affects

the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. Sergeant Snyder's testimony was not an error, and Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this ground.

This Court has explained:

[i]n order for a lay witness to give opinion testimony pursuant to Rule 701 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence (1) the witness must have personal knowledge or perception of the facts from which the opinion is to be derived; (2) there must be a rational connection between the opinion and the facts upon which it is based; and (3) the opinion must be helpful in understanding the testimony or determining a fact in issue.

Syl. pt. 9, *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014). Here, Sergeant Snyder possessed the personal knowledge of the underlying facts required by Rule 701, because he personally observed all the evidence in this case. Because of the drugs and drug packaging material (App. 154), the approximately two thousand dollars in cash (App. 155), and the fact that Petitioner was never able to provide anything to show he was employed (App. 457), under Rule 701, there was no plain error. Sergeant Snyder had the requisite training to testify to the markers reflecting someone involved in the drug trade.

Second, Petitioner was not prejudiced by Sergeant Snyder's testimony that he thought possibly that Petitioner and Ms. Opitz were involved in marijuana distribution. App. 457. This was no more than a cursory statement that didn't trigger any prejudice, which is likely the reason his counsel did not object. Petitioner has failed to even allege how the cursory statement seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. Therefore, Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this ground.

VII. The court did not err in Petitioner's sentence.

Petitioner provides a blanket statement of the law for this assignment of error, but his substantive argument is merely one sentence: "Based on all these considerations, especially the

weak circumstantial case against Petitioner, the circuit court erred in not granting Petitioner probation, home confinement or other alternative sentencing.” Pet’r’s Br. 11.

“Sentences imposed by a trial court, if within statutory limits and not based on some [im]permissible factor, are not subject to appellate review.” Syl. pt. 3, *State v. Georgius*, 225 W. Va. 716, 696 S.E.2d 18 (2010) (quoting syl. pt. 4, *State v. Goodnight*, 169 W. Va. 366, 287 S.E.2d 504 (1982)); *State v. Slater*, 222 W. Va. 499, 507-08, 665 S.E.2d 674, 682-83 (2008) (stating that “[w]e deem it generally to be the better practice to decline to review sentences that are within statutory limits and where no impermissible sentence factor is indicated.”). A circuit court’s discretion in imposing sentence generally may not be interfered with save for an abuse of discretion:

Moreover, in *State v. Sugg*, 193 W. Va. 388, 406, 456 S.E.2d 469, 487 (1995), we held that “[a]s a general proposition, we will not disturb a sentence following a criminal conviction if it falls within the range of what is permitted under the statute.” It is not the proper prerogative of this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on sentencing matters, so long as the appellant’s sentence was within the statutory limits, was not based upon any impermissible factors, and did not violate constitutional principles.

Georgius, 225 W. Va. at 722, 696 S.E.2d at 24. This Court has established that “the impermissible factors a court should not consider in sentencing include such matters as ‘race, sex, national origin, creed, religion, and socioeconomic status’ *United States v. Onwuemene*, 933 F.2d 650, 651 (8th Cir. 1991).” *State v. Moles*, No. 18-0903, 2019 WL 5092415, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Oct. 11, 2019) (memorandum decision).

Petitioner was sentenced to sixteen years, on count two of the indictment under West Virginia Code §§ 60A-4-408(a) and 414(a) to run consecutive to ninety days for count three of the indictment under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-401(c). App. 16, 53-56. The sentence in this case

was within statutory guidelines, and Petitioner has not made any allegation that an impermissible factor was considered; thus, he is not entitled to relief on this ground.

Petitioner's request for an alternative sentence should also fall on deaf ears. An alternative sentence such as probation is a grace of the sentencing court. "[T]he decision as to whether the imposition of probation is appropriate in a certain case is entirely within the circuit court's discretion." *State v. Duke*, 200 W. Va. 356, 364, 489 S.E.2d 738, 746 (1997). Accordingly, "[t]he decision of a trial court to deny probation will be overturned only when, on the facts of the case, that decision constituted a palpable abuse of discretion." Syl. pt. 3, *State v. Shaw*, 208 W. Va. 426, 541 S.E.2d 21 (2000). As this Court has repeatedly found, "[p]robation is a matter of grace and not a matter of right." Syl. pt. 2, *State v. Hosby*, 220 W. Va. 560, 648 S.E.2d 66 (2007). The court was correct in refusing any alternative sentence.

"[P]etitioner's desire for a different outcome—probation—does not establish a 'palpable abuse of the court's discretion.'" *State v. Zackoski*, No. 20-0518, 2021 WL 3833719, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Aug. 27, 2021) (memorandum decision). Moreover, "[a] trial court has wide discretion in the sources and types of evidence used in determining the kind and extent of punishment to be imposed." *State ex rel. Dunlap v. McBride*, 225 W. Va. 192, 202, 691 S.E.2d 183, 193 (2010). "[M]erely because one qualifies for probation consideration does not mean that probation must be awarded." *State v. Lott*, 170 W. Va. 65, 68, 289 S.E.2d 739, 742 (1982). This is particularly true in this case, where Petitioner absconded almost immediately following his conviction. The lower court's sentence should be affirmed.

VIII. Petitioner's sentence does not violate the proportionality principle nor is it excessive.

Petitioner argues that his sentence is excessive and, although it was within statutory guidelines, he argues that he "believes his sixteen-year sentence under the Second Offense sta[tute]

is excessive and should be reduced either to a one to five year sentence under the general conspiracy statute, or to a determinate sentence of ten (10) years.” Pet’r’s Br. 12.

This Court has held that because proportionality standards are basically applicable to those sentences where there is either no fixed maximum set by statute or where there is a life recidivist sentence. *See State v. Cook*, No. 22-950, 2024 WL 3618909 (W. Va. Supreme Court, July 1, 2024). *See* syl. pt. 4, *Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher*, 166 W. Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205 (1981). Petitioner’s sentence does not fall into either of these categories; thus, a proportionality analysis is not appropriate.

If the Court determines to undergo a proportionality analysis, to determine if a sentence violates the proportionality principle found in Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, this Court applies a two-part test. The first part of the test is subjective, and “asks whether the sentence for the particular crime shocks the conscience of the court and society.” *State v. Cooper*, 172 W. Va. 266, 272, 304 S.E.2d 851, 857 (1983). The second part of the test is objective, where “consideration is given to the nature of the offense, the legislative purpose behind the punishment, a comparison of the punishment with what would be inflicted in other jurisdictions, and a comparison with other offenses within the same jurisdiction.” Syl. pt. 5, *Wanstreet*, 166 W. Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205. It is Petitioner’s burden to prove that his sentence violated proportionality; here, Petitioner not only fails to recognize the appropriate test, but he fails to make a cogent argument.

Although not entirely clear, it appears that Petitioner is attempting to argue either that the evidence was not sufficient (Pet’r’s Br. 12), or that the second offense under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408(a), violates double jeopardy. Pet’r’s Br. 11-12. It is difficult to meaningfully respond to this assignment of error other than to say that the potential sentence under West Virginia Code

§ 60A-4-414(a) is up to a determinate term of ten years, and Petitioner was sentenced to a determinate term of eight years. App. 53-56. Further, under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408(a), “[a]ny person convicted of a second or subsequent offense under this act may be imprisoned for a term up to twice the term otherwise authorized,” and, accordingly, the trial court sentenced Petitioner to sixteen years in prison, App. 53-56. The court followed the statutory mandates for sentencing. Petitioner argues that this is excessive, violates double jeopardy, and the evidence was not sufficient, however, he has failed to adequately argue any of these contentions, and, therefore, Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this ground.

IX. Petitioner was tried by a jury of his peers.

Petitioner contends that he was not tried by a jury of his peers because, based only upon his recollection, the twenty-nine-member jury pool contained no minorities; however, once again, Petitioner fails to cite supportive legal authority or make any substantive legal analysis as to how Petitioner was denied his right to a fair trial on this basis. In fact, Petitioner concedes that nothing in the record even establishes the racial makeup of the jury. Pet’r’s Br. 12.

In the concurrence of *State v. Hagerman*, 249 W. Va. 361, 895 S.E.2d 216 (2023), this Court explained jurors must “be selected at random from a fair cross section of the population,” which requires circuit courts to follow a detailed process for the selection of petit jury members. *Id.* at ___, 895 S.E.2d at 226 (citing W. Va. Code § 52-1-1). Further, “[t]he Legislature has also created a process for . . . criminal defendants . . . to timely object to that process.” *Id.* See W. Va. Code § 52-1-15. This Court also explained that “West Virginia Code §§ 52-1-6 to -9 sets forth a process for the random selection of petit jury panel members from which a trial jury is ultimately selected.” *Id.*

A party may challenge “compliance with [jury] selection procedures” by following a process established by the Legislature. *See* W. Va. Code § 52-1-15 (entitled “Challenging compliance with selection procedures”). Specifically,

[w]ithin seven days after the moving party discovers, or by the exercise of due diligence could have discovered, the grounds [to challenge jury selection procedures], and in any event before the petit jury is sworn to try the case, a party may move to stay the proceedings, quash the indictment or move for other relief as may be appropriate under the circumstances or the nature of the case.

W. Va. Code § 52-1-15(a). Petitioner has not alleged that the jury was not selected at random from a fair cross section of the population. Because of the lack of objection, this is again a plain error standard and Petitioner has failed to identify or argue any of the elements that this is plain error. Petitioner has not argued that anything about the jury was improper. He certainly has not followed the procedures set forth in West Virginia Code § 52-1-15(a). Petitioner has failed to show any error in the jury panel, and he is not entitled to relief on this ground.

X. The court properly denied the motion for a mistrial.

Petitioner argues that he should have been granted a mistrial due to some statements made by one of the prospective jurors because “[t]hese are not the typical comments made by prospective jurors.” Pet’r’s Br. 14. Petitioner offers no legal authority nor pertinent legal analysis for his contention.

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